# Five Things to Do at the Deathbed of a Loved One

Ptr Bryan Wolfmueller

Hope Lutheran Church Aurora, Colorado

# **Table of Contents**

Five Things to Do	1
1. Read Scripture	1
2. Sing (or Read, but sing) Hymns	2
3. Pray	2
4. Call the Pastor	2
5. Talk	3
The Commendation of the Dying	4
Bible Verses	9
Hymns	20
"Abide with Me! Fast Falls the Eventide"	20
"If Thou But Suffer God to Guide Thee"	21
"Jesus, Thy Boundless Love to Me"	23
"O Lord, My God, I Cry to Thee"	24
"When in the Hour of Utmost Need"	25
"In Thee, Lord, have I Put My Trust"	26
"Be Still, My Soul"	28
"In God, My Faithful God"	29

had the great privilege of visiting my grandfather's deathbed this week. Blessed in the eyes of the Lord is the death of His saints!

It reminded me, though, that while pastors are trained to visit the dying, most of us are not used to this situation. To help, here are five suggestions for what to do when you have the privilege to visit your dying family and friends.

# Five Things to Do

# 1. Read Scripture

Faith comes through hearing, and hearing the Word of God. Even if the dying is asleep, or seem like they are mentally checked out, read the Scriptures. If you have time, read the accounts of the death and resurrection of Jesus from the Gospels (Matthew 26-28, Mark 14-16, Luke 22-24, John 18-21). Read the Psalms (23, 27, 32, 46, 51, 90, 100, 116, 130, etc.). Here are a few other beautiful passages of comfort (suggested by the Pastoral Care Companion:

Psalm 4:8

Psalm 27:1

Psalm 31:1

Psalm 73:26

Luke 2:25-32

John 3:16-17

John 10:14-28

Isaiah 53:4-5

Luke 23:39-43

John 11:21-27

Romans 14:7-9 2 Corinthians 5:1-10 2 Timothy 4:6-8 Revelation 7:9-17 1 Corinthians 15

# 2. Sing (or Read, but sing) Hymns

Hymns are full of comfort, and music is as well. It is amazing how many of the old hymns speak about death. Try this: pick up any Lutheran hymnal and flip through until you see a hymn you recognize. Look at the last two verses. Odds are about 2:1 that there is a mention of death. Sing the hymns you like. If you don't have a hymnal, borrow one from church. I'll bet there's a box of worn out hymnals in some closet somewhere.

# 3. Pray

Pray the Lord's Prayer. Pray the Psalms. Pray the prayers in the hymnal. Find the litany in the hymnal and pray that. Pray for faith, for a blessed death, for peace. The Lord hears our prayers and has promised to answer them.

#### 4. Call the Pastor

He wants to be there. He wants to bring the comfort of the Lord's mercy, the forgiveness of sins, and the peace of the Gospel. He has been in this situation before and can give you helpful insight and guidance, along with the comfort of the Scriptures.

### 5. Talk

We stand at the edge of death with the confidence of faith. Knowing the resurrection of Jesus, and that the sting of death has been removed, we do not cower at the sight of death. Christ has set us free from the fear of death, and we know that for the Lord's baptized "to live is Christ, and to die is gain."

*Note*: when the hour of death draws near, the pastor will observe a rite called "The Commendation of the Dying." This is a beautiful service of Scripture and prayer.

An abbreviated version for use when a pastor is not available on the next page (adapted from the Pastoral Care Companion).

# The Commendation of the Dying

In the name of the Father and of the Son + and of the Holy Spirit. **Amen.** 

Let us pray.

Lord God, heavenly Father, look with favor upon Your child \*\*name\*\*, forgive \*\*him/her\*\* all \*\*his/her\*\* sins, and comfort \*\*him/her\*\* with the promises of the resurrection to life everlasting through Your Son, Jesus Christ, our Lord, who lives and reigns with You and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and forever. **Amen.** 

Psalm 23 or 130 is read

One or more of the following Bible passages is read:

- John 10:27-29
- Matthew 11:28-20
- John 3:16-21
- Revelation 7:9-17

The Apostles' Creed is Confessed

I believe in God, the Father Almighty, Maker of heaven and earth.

And in Jesus Christ, His only Son, our Lord, who was conceived by the Holy Spirit, born of the Virgin Mary, suffered under Pontius Pilate, was crucified, died and was buried. He descended into hell. The third day He rose again from the dead.

He ascended into heaven and sits at the right hand of God, the Father Almighty. From thence He will come to judge the living and the dead.

I believe in the Holy Spirit, the holy Christian church, the communion of saints, the forgiveness of sins, the resurrection of the body, and the life + everlasting. Amen.

The Litany for the Dying is Prayed

- O Lord, have mercy.
- O Christ, have mercy.
- O Lord, have mercy.
- O Christ, hear us.

God the Father in heaven, have mercy.

God the Son, Redeemer of the world, have mercy.

God the Holy Spirit, have mercy.

Be gracious to us. Spare us, good Lord.

Be gracious to us. Help us, good Lord.

From all sin, from all error, from all evil; From the crafts and assaults of the devil: **Good Lord, deliver us.** 

By the mystery of Your holy incarnation; by Your holy nativity;

By Your baptism, fasting, and temptation; by Your agony and bloody sweat; by Your cross and passion; by Your precious death and burial;

By Your glorious resurrection and ascension; and by the coming of the Holy Spirit, the Comforter: **Help us, good Lord.**  In all time of our tribulation; in all time of our prosperity; in the hour of death; and in the day of judgment: **Help us, good Lord.** 

We poor sinners implore You to hear us, O Lord.

That you deliver Your servant \*\*name\*\* from all evil and from eternal death, we implore You to hear us, good Lord.

The You forgive all \*\*his/her\*\* sins, we implore You to hear us, good Lord.

That You give \*\*him/her\*\* refreshment and everlasting blessing, we implore You to hear us, good Lord.

That you give \*\*him/her\*\* joy and gladness in heaven with Your saints, we implore You to hear us, good Lord.

Christ, the Lamb of God, who takes away the sin of the world, have mercy.

Christ, the Lamb of God, who takes away the sin of the world, have mercy.

Christ, the Lamb of God, who takes away the sin of the world, grant us Your peace.

- O Christ, hear us.
- O Lord, have mercy.
- O Christ, have mercy.
- O Lord, have mercy. Amen.

Our Father, who art in heaven, hallowed be Thy name, Thy kingdom come,

Thy will be done on earth as it is in heaven.

Give us this day our daily bread

and forgive us our trespasses as we forgive those who trespass against us;

and lead us not into temptation,

but deliver us from evil.

For Thine is the kingdom and the power and the glory forever and ever. Amen.

#### Commendation

\*\*Name\*\*, go in peace. May God the Father, who created you, may God the + Son, who redeemed and saved you with His blood, may God the Holy Spirit, who sanctified you in the water of Holy Baptism, receive you into the company of the saints and angels to await the resurrection and live in the light of His glory forevermore. **Amen.** 

The Nunc Dimittis is spoken or sung

Lord, now lettest Thou Thy servant depart in peace,

according to Thy Word,

for mine eyes have seen Thy salvation,

which Thou hast prepared before the face of all people:

A Light to lighten the Gentiles, and the Glory of Thy people Israel.

Glory be to the Father and to the Son and to the Holy Ghost,

As it was in the beginning, is now, and ever shall be, world without end. Amen.

Should death occur, the following prayer may be prayed:

O God the Father, fountain and source of all blessings, we give thanks that You have kept \*\*name\*\* in the faith and have now taken \*\*him/her\*\* to Yourself. Comfort us with Your holy Word and give us strength that when our last hour comes we may peacefully fall asleep in You, through Jesus Christ our Lord. **Amen.** 

The Blessing

The Lord bless us and keep us.

The Lord make His face shine upon us and be gracious unto us.

The Lord life us His countenance upon us, and + give us peace. **Amen** 

May the Lord Jesus grant us all a blessed death.

PrBW

# **Appendix**

# **Bible Verses**

Psalm 4:8 In peace I will both lie down and sleep;

for you alone, O LORD, make me dwell in

safety.

**Psalm 27:1** The LORD is my light and my salvation;

whom shall I fear?

The LORD is the stronghold of my life;

of whom shall I be afraid?

Psalm 31:1 In you, O LORD, do I take refuge;

let me never be put to shame; in your righteousness deliver me!

Psalm 73:26 My flesh and my heart may fail,

but God is the strength of my heart and my

portion forever.

Luke 2:25-32 25Now therewas a man in Jerusalem, whose

name was Simeon, and this manwas righteous and devout, waiting for the consolation of Israel, and the Holy Spirit was upon him.

<sup>26</sup>And it had been revealed to him by the Holy Spirit that he would not see death before he hadseen the Lord's Christ. <sup>27</sup>And he came in

the Spirit into the temple, and when the parents brought in the child Jesus, to do for him according to the custom of the Law, <sup>28</sup>he

took him up in his armsand blessed God and said.

<sup>29</sup>"Lord, now you are letting your servant

depart in peace,

#### Five Things to Do at the Deathbed of a Love One

according to your word;

30 for my eyes have seen your salvation

31 that you have prepared in the presence of all peoples,

32 a light for revelation to the Gentiles, and for glory to your people Israel."

John 3:16-17

<sup>16</sup>"For God so loved the world, that he gave his only Son, that whoever believes in him should not perish but have eternal life. <sup>17</sup>For God did not send his Son into the world to condemn theworld, but in order that the world might be saved through him.

John 10:14-28

<sup>14</sup>I am the good shepherd. I know my own and my own know me, <sup>15</sup>just as the Father knows me and I know the Father; and I lay down my life for the sheep. <sup>16</sup>And I have other sheep that are not of this fold. I must bring them also, and they will listen to my voice. So there will be one flock, one shepherd. <sup>17</sup>For this reason the Father loves me, because I lay down my life that I may take it up again. <sup>18</sup>No one takes it from me, but I lay it down of my own accord. I haveauthority to lay it down, and I have authority to take it up again. This charge I have received from my Father." <sup>19</sup>There was again a division among the Jews because of these words. <sup>20</sup>Many of them said, "He has a demon, and is insane; why listen to him?" 21Others said, "These are not the words of one who is oppressed by a demon. Can a demon open the eyes of the blind?"

#### I and the Father Are One

<sup>22</sup>At that time the Feast of Dedication took place at Jerusalem. Itwas winter, <sup>23</sup>and Jesus

### Five Things to Do at the Deathbed of a Loved One

was walking in the temple, in the colonnade of Solomon. <sup>24</sup>So the Jews gathered around him and said to him, "How long will you keep us in suspense? If you are the Christ, tell us plainly." <sup>25</sup>Jesus answered them, "I told you, and you do not believe. The works that I do in my Father's name bear witness about me, <sup>26</sup>but you do not believe because you are not among my sheep. <sup>27</sup>My sheep hear my voice, and I know them, and they follow me. <sup>28</sup>I give them eternal life, and they will never perish, and no one will snatch them out of my hand.

Isaiah 53:4-5

<sup>4</sup>Surely he has borne our griefs and carried our sorrows; yet we esteemed him stricken, smitten by God, and afflicted. <sup>5</sup>But he was pierced for our transgressions; he was crushed for our iniquities; upon him was the chastisement that brought us peace, and with his wounds we are healed.

Luke 23:39-43

<sup>39</sup>One of the criminals who were hanged railed at him, saying, "Are you not the Christ? Save yourself and us!" <sup>40</sup>But the other rebuked him,saying, "Do you not fear God, since you are under the same sentence of condemnation? <sup>41</sup>And we indeed justly, for we are receiving the due reward of our deeds; but this man has done nothing wrong." <sup>42</sup>And he said, "Jesus, remember me when you come into your kingdom." <sup>43</sup>And he said to him, "Truly, I say to you, today you will be with me in paradise."

John 11:21-27

<sup>21</sup>Martha said to Jesus, "Lord, if you had been here, my brother would not have died. <sup>22</sup>But even now I know that whatever you ask from

#### Five Things to Do at the Deathbed of a Love One

God, God will give you." <sup>23</sup>Jesus said to her, "Your brother will rise again." <sup>24</sup>Martha said to him, "I know that he will rise again in the resurrectionon the last day." <sup>25</sup>Jesus said to her, "I am the resurrection and the life. Whoever believes in me, though he die, yet shall he live, <sup>26</sup>and everyone who lives and believes in me shall never die. Do you believe this?" <sup>27</sup>She said to him, "Yes, Lord; I believe that you are the Christ,the Son of God, who is coming into the world."

#### Romans 14:7-9

<sup>7</sup>For none of us lives to himself, and none of us dies to himself. <sup>8</sup>For if we live, we live to the Lord, and if we die, we die to the Lord. So then, whether we live or whether we die, we are the Lord's. <sup>9</sup>For to this end Christ died and lived again, that he might be Lord both of the dead and of the living.

#### 2 Corinthians 5:1-10

<sup>1</sup>For we know that if the tent that is our earthly home is destroyed, we have a building from God, a house not made with hands, eternal in the heavens. <sup>2</sup>For in this tent we groan, longing to put on our heavenly dwelling, <sup>3</sup>if indeed by putting it on we may not be found naked. <sup>4</sup>For while we are still in this tent, we groan, being burdened—not that we would be unclothed, but that we would be further clothed, so tha twhat is mortal may be swallowed up by life. <sup>5</sup>He who has prepared us for this very thing is God, who has given us the Spirit as a guarantee.

<sup>6</sup>So we are alwaysof good courage. We know that while we are at home in the body we are away from the Lord, <sup>7</sup>for we walk by faith, not by sight. <sup>8</sup>Yes, we are of good courage, and we

#### Five Things to Do at the Deathbed of a Loved One

would rather be away from the body and at home with the Lord. <sup>9</sup>So whether we are at home or away, we make it our aim to please him. <sup>10</sup>For we must all appear before the judgment seat of Christ, so that each one may receive what is due for what he has done in the body, whether good or evil.

#### 2 Timothy 4:6-8

<sup>6</sup>For I am already being poured out as a drink offering, and the time of my departure has come. <sup>7</sup>I have fought the good fight, I have finished the race, I have kept the faith. <sup>8</sup>Henceforth there is laid up for me the crown of righteousness, which the Lord, the righteous judge, will award to me on that day, and not only to me but also to all who have loved his appearing.

#### Revelation 7:9-17

<sup>9</sup>After this I looked, and behold, a great multitude that no one could number, from every nation, from all tribes and peoples and languages, standing before the throne and before the Lamb, clothed in white robes, with palm branches in their hands, <sup>10</sup>and crying out with a loud voice, "Salvation belongs to our God who sits on the throne, and to the Lamb!" 11 And all the angels were standing around the throne and around the elders and the four living creatures, and they fell on their faces before the throne and worshiped God, <sup>12</sup>saying, "Amen! Blessing and glory and wisdom and thanksgiving and honor and power and might be to our God forever and ever! Amen."

<sup>13</sup>Then one of the elders addressed me, saying, "Who are these, clothed in white robes, and from where have they come?" <sup>14</sup>I

#### Five Things to Do at the Deathbed of a Love One

said to him, "Sir, you know." And he said to me, "These are the ones coming out of the great tribulation. They have washed their robes and made them white in the blood of the Lamb.

<sup>15</sup>"Therefore they are before the throne of God,

and serve him day and night in his temple;and he who sits on the throne will shelter them with his presence.

<sup>16</sup>They shall hunger no more, neither thirst anymore;

the sun shall not strike them, nor any scorching heat.

<sup>17</sup>For the Lamb in the midst of the throne will be their shepherd,

and he will guide them to springs of living water,

and God will wipe away every tear from their eyes."

#### 1 Corinthians 15

<sup>1</sup>Now I would remind you, brothers of the gospel I preached to you, which you received, in which you stand, <sup>2</sup>and by which you are being saved, if you hold fast t the word I preached to you—unless you believed in vain. <sup>3</sup>For I delivered t you as of first importance what I also received: that Chris died for our sins in accordance with the Scriptures, 4that he was buried, that he was raised on the third day in accordance with the Scriptures, 5 and that he appeared to Cephas, then to the twelve. 6Then he appeared to more than five hundred brothers at one time, most of whom are still alive, though some have fallen asleep. <sup>7</sup>Then he appeared to James, then to all the apostles. <sup>8</sup>Last of all, as to one untimely born, he

#### Five Things to Do at the Deathbed of a Loved One

appeared also to me. <sup>9</sup>For I am the least of the apostles, unworthy to be called an apostle, because I persecuted the church of God. <sup>10</sup>But by the grace of God I am what I am, and his grace toward me was not in vain. On the contrary, I worked harder than nay of them, though it was not I, but the grace of God that is with me. <sup>11</sup>Whether then it was I or they, so we preach and so you believed.

#### The Resurrection of the Dead

<sup>12</sup>Now if Christ is proclaimed as raised from the dead, how can some of you say that there is no resurrection of the dead? <sup>13</sup>But if there is no resurrection of the dead, then not even Christ has been raised. <sup>14</sup>And if Christ has not been raised, then our preaching is in vain and your faith is in vain. <sup>15</sup>We are even found to be misrepresenting God, because we testified about God that he raised Christ, whom he did not raise if it is true that the dead are not raised. <sup>16</sup>For if the dead are not raised, not even Christ has been raised. <sup>17</sup>And if Christ has not been raised, your faith is futile and you are still in your sins. <sup>18</sup>Then those also who have fallen asleep in Christ have perished. <sup>19</sup>If in Christ we have hope in this life only, we are of all people most to be pitied.

<sup>20</sup>But in fact, Christ has been raised from the dead, the first fruits of those who have fallen asleep. <sup>21</sup>For as by a man came death, by a man has come also the resurrection of the dead. <sup>22</sup>For as in Adam all die, so also in Christ shall all be made alive. <sup>23</sup>But each i his own order: Christ the first fruits, then at his coming who belong to Christ. <sup>24</sup>Then comes the end, when he delivers the kingdom to God the Father

after destroying every rule and every authority and power. <sup>25</sup>For he must reign until he has put all his enemies under his feet. <sup>26</sup>The last enemy to be destroyed is death. <sup>27</sup>For God has put all things in subjection under his feet. But when it says, "all things are put in subjection,", it is plain that he is excepted who put all things in subjection under him. <sup>28</sup>When all things are subjected to him, then the Son himself will also be subjected to him who put all things in subjection under him, that God may be all in all.

<sup>29</sup>Otherwise, what do people mean by being baptized on behalf of the dead? If the dead are not raised at all, why are people baptized on their behalf? <sup>30</sup>Why are we in danger every hour? <sup>31</sup>I protest, brothers, by my pride in you, which I have in Christ Jesus our Lord, I die every day! <sup>32</sup>What do I gain if, humanly speaking, "I fought with beasts at Ephesus? If the dead are not raised, "Let us eat and drink, for tomorrow we die." <sup>33</sup>Do not be deceived: "Bad company ruins good morals." <sup>34</sup>Wake up from your drunken stupor, as is right, and do not go on sinning. For some have no knowledge of God. I say this to your shame.

#### The Resurrection Body

<sup>35</sup>But someone will ask, "How are the dead raised? With what kind of body do they come?" <sup>36</sup>You foolish person! What you sow does not come to life unless it dies. <sup>37</sup>And what you sow is not the body that is to be, but a bare kernel, perhaps of wheat or of some other grain. <sup>38</sup>But God gives it a body as he has chosen, and to each kind of seed its own body. <sup>39</sup>For not all flesh is the same, but there

#### Five Things to Do at the Deathbed of a Loved One

is one kind for humans, another for animals, another for birds, and another for fish. <sup>40</sup>There are heavenly bodies and earthly bodies, but the glory of the heavenly is of one kind, and the glory of the earthly is of another. <sup>41</sup>There is one glory of the sun, and another glory of the moon, and another glory of the stars; for star differs from star in glory.

<sup>42</sup>So is it with the resurrection of the dead. What is sown is perishable; what is raised is imperishable. 43It is sown in dishonor; it is raised in glory. It is sown in weakness, it is raised in power. 44It is sown a natural body; it is raised a spiritual body. If there is a natural body, there is also a spiritual body. 45Thus it is written, "The first man Adam became a living being"; the last Adam became a life-giving spirit. <sup>46</sup>But it is not the spiritual that is first buth the natural, and then the spiritual. <sup>47</sup>The first man was from earth, a man of dust; the second man is from heaven. <sup>48</sup>As was the man of dust, so also are those who are of the dust, and as is the man of heaven, so also are those who are of heaven. 49 Just as we have borne the image of the man of dust, we shall also bear the image of the man of heaven.

## Mystery and Victory

<sup>50</sup>I tell you this, brothers: flesh and blood cannot inherit the kingdom of God, nor does the perishable inherit the imperishable.
<sup>51</sup>Behold! I tell you a mystery. We shall not all sleep, but we shall all be changed, <sup>52</sup>in a moment, in a twinkling of an eye, at the last trumpet. For the trumpet will sound, and the dead will be raised imperishable, and we shall be changed. <sup>53</sup>For this perishable body must

#### Five Things to Do at the Deathbed of a Love One

put on the imperishable, and this mortal body must put on immortality. <sup>54</sup>When the perishable puts on the imperishable, and the mortal puts on immortality, then shall come to pass the saying that is written:

"Death is swalloed up in vicotry.

55"O death, where is your victory?

O death, where is your sing?

<sup>56</sup>The sting of death is sin, and the power of sin is the law. <sup>57</sup>But thanks be to God, who gives us the victory through our Lord Jesus Christ.

<sup>58</sup>Therefore, my beloved brothers, be steadfast, immovable, always abounding in the work of the Lord, knowing that in the Lord your labor is not in vain.

John 10:27-29

<sup>27</sup> My sheep hear my voice, and I know them, and they follow me. <sup>28</sup>I give them eternal life, and they will never perish, and no one will snatch them out of my hand. <sup>29</sup>My Father, who has given them to me, is greater than all, and no one is able to snatch them out of the Father's hand.

Matthew 11:28-30

<sup>28</sup>Come to me, all who labor and are heavy laden, and Iwill give you rest. <sup>29</sup>Take my yoke upon you, and learn from me, for I am gentle and lowly in heart, and you will find rest for your souls. <sup>30</sup> For my yoke is easy, and my burden is light."

John 3:16-21

<sup>16</sup>"For God so loved the world, that he gave his only Son, that whoever believes in him should not perish but have eternal life. <sup>17</sup>For God did not send his Son into the world to condemn the world, but in order that the world might be saved through him. <sup>18</sup>Whoever

#### Five Things to Do at the Deathbed of a Loved One

believes in him is not condemned, but whoever does not believe is condemned already, because he has not believed in the name of the only Son of God. <sup>19</sup>And this is the judgment: the light has come into the world, and people loved the darkness rather than the light because their works were evil. <sup>20</sup>For everyone who does wicked things hates the light and does not come to the light, lest his works should be exposed. <sup>21</sup>Butwhoever does what is true comes to the light, so that it may be clearly seen that his works have been carried out in God."

# Hymns

# "Abide with Me! Fast Falls the Eventide"

by Henry F. Lyte, 1793–1847

- 1. Abide with me! Fast falls the eventide; The darkness deepens; Lord with me abide. When other helpers fail and comforts flee, Help of the helpless, oh, abide with me!
- Swift to its close ebbs out life's little day;
   Earth's joys grow dim, its glories pass away;
   Change and decay in all around I see.
   O Thou, who changest not, abide with me!
- 3. Not a brief glance I beg, a passing word, But as Thou dwell'st with Thy disciples, Lord, Familiar, condescending, patient, free. Come not to sojourn, but abide with me.
- 4. Come not in terror, as the King of kings, But kind and good, with healing in Thy wings; Tears for all woes, a heart for every plea. Come, Friend of sinners, thus abide with me.
- 5. Thou on my head in every youth didst smile, And though rebellious and perverse meanwhile, Thou hast not left me, oft as I left Thee. On to the close, O Lord, abide with me.

- 6. I need Thy presence every passing hour; What but Thy grace can foil the Tempter's power? Who like Thyself my guide and stay can be? Through cloud and sunshine, oh, abide with me!
- 7. I fear no foe, with Thee at hand to bless; Ills have no weight and tears no bitterness. Where is death's sting? where, grave, thy victory? I triumph still if Thou abide with me.
- 8. Hold Thou Thy cross before my closing eyes, Shine through the gloom, and point me to the skies. Heaven's morning breaks, and earth's vain shadows flee; In life, in death, O Lord, abide with me!

#### "If Thou But Suffer God to Guide Thee"

by Georg Neumark, 1621–1681 Translated by Catherine Winkworth, 1829–1878

- 1. If thou but suffer God to guide thee
  And hope in Him through all thy ways,
  He'll give thee strength, whate'er betide thee,
  And bear thee through the evil days.
  Who trusts in God's unchanging love
  Builds on the Rock that naught can move.
- 2. What can these anxious cares avail thee, These never-ceasing moans and sighs? What can it help if thou bewail thee O'er each dark moment as it flies? Our cross and trials do but press The heavier for our bitterness.

- 3. Be patient and await His leisure
  In cheerful hope, with heart content
  To take whate'er thy Father's pleasure
  And His discerning love hath sent,
  Nor doubt our inmost wants are known
  To Him who chose us for His own.
- 4. God knows full well when times of gladness Shall be the needful thing for thee.
  When He has tried thy soul with sadness And from all guile has found thee free,
  He comes to thee all unaware
  And makes thee own His loving care.
- 5. Nor think amid the fiery trial
  That God hath cast thee off unheard,
  That he whose hopes meet no denial
  Must surely be of God preferred.
  Time passes and much change doth bring
  And sets a bound to everything.
- 6. All are alike before the Highest; 'Tis easy to our God, we know,
  To raise thee up, though low thou liest,
  To make the rich man poor and low.
  True wonders still by Him are wrought
  Who setteth up and brings to naught.
- 7. Sing, pray, and keep His ways unswerving, Perform thy duties faithfully, And trust His Word, though undeserving, Thou yet shalt find it true for thee.

  God never yet forsook in need
  The soul that trusted Him indeed.

#### "Jesus, Thy Boundless Love to Me"

by Paul Gerhardt, 1607-1676

- 1. Jesus, Thy boundless love to me No thought can reach, no tongue declare; Unite my thankful heart to Thee And reign without a rival there. To Thee alone, dear Lord, I live; Myself to Thee, dear Lord, I give.
- 2. Oh, grant that nothing in my soul May dwell but Thy pure love alone! Oh, may Thy love possess me whole, My Joy, my Treasure, and my Crown! All coldness from my heart remove; My every act, word, thought, be love.
- 3. O Love, how cheering is Thy ray! All pain before Thy presence flies; Care, anguish, sorrow, melt away Where'er Thy healing beams arise. O Jesus, nothing may I see, Nothing desire or seek, but Thee!
- 4. This love unwearied I pursue And dauntlessly to Thee aspire. Oh, may Thy love my hope renew, Burn in my soul like heavenly fire! And day and night be all my care To guard this sacred treasure there.

5. Oh, draw me, Savior, e'er to Thee; So shall I run and never tire. With gracious words still comfort me; Be Thou my Hope, my sole Desire. Free me from every guilt and fear; No sin can harm if Thou art near.

6. Still let Thy love point out my way;
What wondrous things Thy love hath wrought!
Still lead me lest I go astray;
Direct my work, inspire my thought;
And if I fall, soon may I hear
Thy voice and know that love is near!

7. In suffering be Thy love my peace, In weakness be Thy love my power; And when the storms of life shall cease, O Jesus, in that final hour, Be Thou my Rod and Staff and Guide And draw me safely to Thy side!

## "O Lord, My God, I Cry to Thee"

by Nikolaus Selnecker, 1532–1592 Translated by Catherine Winkwoth, 1829–1878

1. O Lord, my God, I cry to Thee; In my distress Thou helpest me. My soul and body I commend Into Thy hands; Thine angel send To guide me home and cheer my heart When Thou dost call me to depart.

- 2. O Jesus Christ, Thou Lamb of God, Once slain to take away our load. Now let Thy cross, Thine agony, Avail to save and solace me, Thy deam to open heaven, and there Bid me the joy of angels share.
- 3. O Holy Spirit, faithful Friend, Grant me Thy comfort to the end. When death and hell assail me sore. Leave me, oh, leave me, nevermore, But bear me safely through the strife, As Thou hast promised. into life.

#### "When in the Hour of Utmost Need"

by Paul Eber, 1511-1569

- When in the hour of utmost need
   We know not where to look for aid;
   When days and nights of anxious thought
   Nor help nor counsel yet have brought,
- 2. Then this our comfort is alone, That we may meet before Thy throne And cry, O faithful God, to Thee For rescue from our misery;
- 3. To Thee may raise our hearts and eyes, Repenting sore with bitter sighs, And seek Thy pardon for our sin And respite from our griefs within.

- 4. For Thou hast promised graciously
  To hear all those who cry to Thee
  Through Him whose name alone is great,
  Our Savior and our Advocate.
- 5. And thus we come, O God, today And all our woes before Thee lay; For sorely tried, cast down, we stand, Perplexed by fears on every hand.
- 6. Ah! hide not for our sins Thy face,Absolve us through Thy boundless grace,Be with us in our anguish still,Free us at last from every ill,
- 7. That so with all our hearts we may To Thee our glad thanksgiving pay, Then walk obedient to Thy Word And now and ever praise Thee, Lord.

## "In Thee, Lord, have I Put My Trust"

by Adam Reusner, 1496–c.1575 Translated by Catherine Winkworth, 1829–1878

- 1. In Thee, Lord, have I put my trust; Leave me not helpless in the dust, Let me not be confounded. Let in Thy Word My faith, 0 Lord, Be always firmly grounded.
- 2. Bow down Thy gracious ear to me And hear my cries and prayers to Thee, Haste Thee for my protection;

For woes and fear Surround me here. Help me in mine affliction.

- 3. My God and Shield, now let Thy power Be unto me a mighty tower Whence bravely I defend me Against the foes That round me close. O Lord, assistance lend me.
- 4. Thou art my Strength, my Shield, my Rock, My Fortress that withstands each shock, My Help, my Life, my Treasure.
  Whate'er the rod, Thou art my God;
  Naught can resist Thy pleasure.
- 5. The world for me has falsely set
  Full many a secret snare and net
  To tempt me and to harm me.
  Lord, make them fail, Do Thou prevail,
  Let their disguise not charm me.
- 6. With Thee, Lord, have I cast my lot; O faithful God, forsake me not, To Thee my soul commending. Lord, be my Stay, Lead Thou the way Now and when life is ending.
- 7. All honor, praise, and majesty
  To Father, Son, and Spirit be,
  Our God forever glorious,
  In whose rich grace We'll run our race
  Till we depart victorious.

#### "Be Still, My Soul"

by Catharina von Schlegel, 1697–? Translated by Jane Borthwick, 1813–1897

- 1. Be still, my soul; the Lord is on thy side; Bear patiently the cross of grief or pain; Leave to thy God to order and provide; In every change He faithful will remain. Be still, my soul; thy best, thy heavenly, Friend Through thorny ways leads to a joyful end.
- 2. Be still, my soul; thy God doth undertake To guide the future as He has the past. Thy hope, thy confidence, let nothing shake; All now mysterious shall be bright at last. Be still, my soul; the waves and winds still know His voice who ruled them while He dwelt below.
- 3. Be still, my soul, though dearest friends depart And all is darkened in the vale of tears; Then shalt thou better know His love, His heart, Who comes to soothe thy sorrows and thy fears. Be still, my soul; thy Jesus can repay From His own fulness all He takes away.
- 4. Be still, my soul; the hour is hastening on When we shall be forever with the Lord, When disappointment, grief, and fear are gone, Sorrow forgot, love's purest joys restored. Be still, my soul; when change and tears are past, All safe and blessed we shall meet at last.

# "In God, My Faithful God"

by Leipzig Translated by Catherine Winkworth, 1827–1878

- 1. In God, my faithful God, I trust when dark my road; Great woes may overtake me, Yet he will not forsake me. It is his love that sends them; At his best time he ends them.
- My sins fill me with care,
   Yet I will mot despair.
   I build on Christ, who loves me;
   From this rock nothing moves me.
   To him I will surrender,
   To him, my soul's defender.
- 3. If death my portion be,
  It brings great gain to me;
  It speeds my life's endeavor
  To live with Christ forever.
  He gives me joy in sorrow,
  Come death now or tomorrow.
- 4. "So be it," then, I say
  With all my heart each day.
  Dear Lord, we all adore you,
  We sing for joy before you.
  Guide us while here we wander
  Until we praise you yonder.